THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III
Beaufort County
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-07-01622

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000862

RECEIVED
Nov 16 2020
SC Court of Appeals

J & W Corporation of Greenwood,

Appellant,

vs.

Broad Creek Marina of Hilton Head, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina Operations, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina Properties, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina and Development, LLC,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/Thomas C. Taylor

Thomas C. Taylor, Esq.

South Carolina Bar No.: 5499

LAW OFFICE OF THOMAS C. TAYLOR, LLC

22 Bow Circle, Suite A

Post Office Box 5550

Hilton Head Island, SC 29938

T: 843-785-5050

F: 843-785-5030

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Master err in failing to enter a Declaratory Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff on it's Second Cause of Action (For a Declaratory Judgment regarding the office space and dock lease)?
2. Did the Master err in entering an Order directing the Plaintiff to accept a "floating office" as its office space?
3. Did the Master err in ordering the Plaintiff to accept an "Aqua Lodge" houseboat as its office space?
4. Did the Master err in failing to award the Plaintiff at least nominal damages for the breach of contract proven by a preponderance of the evidence?
5. Did the Master err in failing to apply an equitable set off to any damages proven by the Defendant?
6. Did the Master err by awarding the Defendants recovery for "dock damages" and pre-judgement interest?
7. Did the Master err in failing to enter a Declaratory Judgment holding that the parties amended and supplemented the terms of the original Lease Agreement regarding insurance requirements when they entered into the Release and Confidential Settlement Agreement?
8. Did the Master err in quashing the trial subpoena issued to Robbin Rachels?
9. Did the Master err in awarding the Defendants \$56,371.27 in damages for "Unreimbursed Lease Charges"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the failure and refusal of the Landlord Defendants to provide the Plaintiff Tenant with a legal, permitted commercial office space as required under the terms of a 99-year Lease Agreement executed in 1993 and a Release and Confidential Settlement Agreement signed in December of 2004. In 2008, the Plaintiff Tenant, the J & W Corporation of Greenwood, stopped paying certain “common area” charges to the Landlord, and then when the Landlord Defendants’ bank foreclosed upon the Landlord in 2010, and named J & W as an additional defendant, J & W initiated a crossclaim that has eventually led to the current Amended Complaint for Damages, For Temporary and Permanent Injunctive Relief, and for a Declaratory Judgment.

William P. “Wick” Scurry is the owner of the Plaintiff J & W Corporation of Greenwood (“J & W”), and he and his father purchased the Broad Creek Marina on Hilton Head in 1981 or 1982. (Trial Tr.,p. 104, lines 19-22.) (R.p.____.) The Scurrys built up the marina with expanded docks and a boat dealership and then sold it to Frank Ferrari for \$2,600,000. Mr. Ferrari was unable to profitably run the marina, and his mortgagee, the South Carolina National Bank, took it back and requested that Wick Scurry return and manage the property. (Trial Tr.,p. 105, lines 6-7 and p. 106, lines 6-25.) (R.p.____.) Mr. Scurry agreed to manage the marina for SCNB in exchange for the bank’s execution and recordation of a First Right of Refusal to Mr. Scurry and J & W on any future sale of the marina, which was executed and filed. (Trial Tr.,p. 105, lines 18-23.) (R.p.____.)

In or around 1993, Richard Freedman entered into negotiations with SCNB and reached an agreement to purchase the Broad Creek Marina property for \$1.3 million. However, Mr. Scurry then exercised his Right of First Refusal to purchase the property for the \$1.3 million price. (Trial Tr.,p. 106, lines 11-14.) (R.p.____.) Richard Freedman then approached Mr. Scurry and after further negotiations, Mr. Scurry and Mr. Freedman reached a deal where Mr. Scurry would waive his

Right of First Refusal and allow Freedman to purchase the marina, in exchange for Freedman giving J & W a 99-year Lease Agreement at \$1 a year for certain areas of Broad Creek Marina, 300 feet of dock space, and an office from which J & W would operate its businesses. (Trial Tr.,p. 107, line 1-15.) (R.p.____.) In essence, Mr. Freedman was able to purchase the marina that had sold a few years earlier for 2.6 million, at the price of 1.3 million, and Mr. Scurry's business gained a 99-year lease in exchange for the \$1.3 million dollar discount Mr. Freedman achieved.

The original Lease Agreement (Defendants' Exhibit 1) was signed on September 23, 1993, and issues arose between the parties regarding insurance and shared charges quickly. (Trial Tr.,p. 108, lines 13-18.) (R.p.____.) The parties to the Lease Agreement, the J & W Corporation of Greenwood and Hilton Head Island Marina, L.P., then reached a Confidential Settlement Agreement and Release on December 13, 2004. Defendants' Exhibit 2.

At the time the Release and Confidential Settlement Agreement ("RCSA") was signed, J & W was operating its businesses on Hilton Head (a ferry service to Daufuskie Island and barge to Daufuskie Island) at the Broad Creek Marina from the "Marina Office" building located on the mainland, adjacent to the barge creek landing area. However shortly after the signing of the RCSA, when Broad Creek Marina of Hilton Head, LLC (the successor in interest to Hilton Head Island Marina, L.P. ("BCM")) decided to build a restaurant in the Marina Office, J & W's office was moved to a houseboat provided by BCM at the dock. The houseboat then sank and J & W lost all of its equipment and office furnishings. (Trial Tr.,p. 120, lines 4-8.) (R.p.____.)

BCM then directed J & W's administrative personnel into a boat shed on the mainland portion of the marina, that was not permitted for commercial office occupancy nor for any human occupancy. (Trial Tr.,p. 120, lines 12-19.) (R.p.____.) It was unacceptable to J & W and Mr. Scurry

demanded to be moved into one of the three options that had been agreed to in the RCSA. Roger Freedman (who had taken his brother's place) and his General Manager Nate Jones assured J & W that the boat shed office was temporary, but when it went on for four years, Mr. Scurry stopped paying the monthly "common area" charges set forth in the RCSA in order to encourage BCM to move J & W into an appropriate, safe and legally permitted, commercial office. (Trial Tr.,p. 124, lines 3-7.) (R.p.____.) When that succession of monthly common area payments failed to move BCM to embrace the requirements of the RCSA, this litigation followed in 2010 when the Landlord's foreclosing bank named J & W as a co-defendant in a foreclosure action.

Since the litigation began in 2010 as 2010-CP-07-5068, there have been Motions for Temporary Restraining Orders filed and Injunctions issued against BCM for actions threatened and taken that would and did damage J & W's business. In 2015, a new suit was filed and was assigned civil action number 2015-CP-07-1704, and was consolidated with 2010-CP-07-5068. That consolidated action was taken off the roster pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 40(j), and reinstated in 2018 and assigned this case number.

The case was called for trial before the Hon. Marvin Dukes, Master in Equity of Beaufort County on May 15, 2019 and concluded on May 16 ,2019. Judge Dukes issued his Interim Order Relating to Relocation of Plaintiff's Office Space on May 29, 2019. (R.p.____.) The Defendants filed a Motion To Implement and Enforce The Masters Interim Order on September 26, 2019 and the Plaintiff filed a Motion to Allow Additional Discovery on November 8, 2019 in reply. (R.p.____.) The Master entered his Order on Floating Office in response to both on November 25, 2019.(R.p.____.)

The Master then issued his Order and Judgment on January 9, 2020 awarding the Defendants a judgment of \$112,428.40. (R.p. ____,) and the Plaintiff filed its Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on January 17, 2020. (R.p. ____.) On May 4, 2020, the Master denied the Motion to Alter or Amend. (R.p. ____.) This appeal followed.¹

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review for this case is as an action in equity tried by a judge and thus this appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. The gravamen of the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint for Damages, for Temporary and Permanent Injunctive Relief, and for a Declaratory Judgment, was for a declaration compelling the Defendants to provide the Plaintiff with the commercial office space agreed to in December 2004 in the Release and Confidential Settlement Agreement, and allow an equitable set off of the Annual Shared Liabilities amounts that the Plaintiff ceased paying in 2008 in order to force the Defendants to provide the office space agreed to in 2004. Whether it is viewed as a prayer for an injunction stopping the Defendants from continuing to relegate the Plaintiff's business operations to an illegal, un-permitted converted boat shed, or as a request for specific performance of a contract, the Plaintiff's complaint sounded in equity and was tried in equity by the Master.

"Declaratory judgment actions are neither legal nor equitable and therefore, the standard of review depends on the nature of the underlying issues." Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009). "To determine whether an action is legal or equitable, this [c]ourt must look to the action's main purpose as reflected by the nature of the pleadings, evidence, and character of the relief sought." Lollis v. Dutton, 421 S.C. 467, 468, 807 S.E.3d 723, 728 (Ct. App. 2017)

¹ Currently pending before the Master are cross-motions for attorneys fees, and Plaintiff's Petition for a Writ of Supersedeas.

(quoting Fesmire v. Digh, 385 S.C. 296, 303, 683 S.E.2d 803, 807 (Ct. App. 2009)). “The character of the action is generally ascertained from the body of the complaint, but when necessary, resort may also be had to the prayer for relief and any other facts and circumstances which throw light upon the main purpose of the action.” Sloan v. Greenville Cty., 380 S.C. 528, 534, 670 S.E.2d 663, 666-67 (Ct. App. 2009). “If the character of the action appears with sufficient clearness in the body of the complaint, it must control, unaffected by the prayer for relief or the intention or characterization of the pleader.” Bramlett v. Young, 229 S.C. 519, 531, 93 S.E.2d 873, 879 (1956) (quoting Speizman v. Guill, 202 S.C. 498, 514-15, 25 S.E.2d 731, 739 (1943)). “While the prayer constitutes no part of the plaintiff’s cause of action, ‘it is an element that may properly be considered in determining the legal or equitable character of an action, and when the complaint states facts which would support either a legal or an equitable action, the relief demanded will ordinarily determine its character’,” Id. (citation omitted) (quoting 1 C.J.S. *Actions* § 54 at 1155).

“The power of the court to grant an injunction is in equity.” Strategic Res. Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). An injunction is a drastic and “extraordinary equitable remedy courts may use in their discretion in order to prevent irreparable harm to a party” when no adequate remedy exists at law. Hampton v. Haley, 403 S.C. 395, 409, 743 S.E.2d 258, 265 (2013). “In an action at equity, tried by a judge alone, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Inlet Harbour v. S.C. Dep’t of Parks, Recreation & Tourism, 377 S.C. 86, 91, 659 S.E.2d 151, 154 (2008). “However, we are not required to disregard the findings of the trial judge who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility.” Straight v. Goss, 383 S.C. 180, 192, 678 S.E.2d 443, 449 (Ct. App. 2009). “Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of his burden

of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings.” Pinckney v. Warren, 344 S.C. 382, 387-88, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001).

ARGUMENT

- 1. The Master erred in failing to specifically enter a Declaratory Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff on it’s Second Cause of Action (For a Declaratory Judgment regarding the office space and dock lease) in that the preponderance of the evidence proved the Defendants had, for at least ten (10) years, refused to provide the Plaintiff with a properly permitted, commercially reasonable office despite repeated demands and that Plaintiff was entitled to such office space.**

The evidence presented at trial proved that Broad Creek Marina repeatedly refused to relocate J & W into a properly permitted, legal, safe office space, despite the covenant made in the Release and Confidential Settlement Agreement executed on December 13, 2004, that it would provide J & W with “new office space.” It was not until trial that the Defendants agreed to honor the RCSA.

The RCSA provides, in pertinent part:

J&W shall continue to occupy its existing space in its current location at the Marina Office until such time as new office space is available for its use and occupation (“New Office Space”). The New Office Space shall be in substitution for the office space previously located in the floating store as identified in the Lease. J&W agrees that they waive any entitlement, if any, to the insurance proceeds the HHIM received from the casualty loss to the floating store. The Parties agree the HHIM may provide one of the following alternatives as substitute office space for J&W:

- i. HHIM will seek approval from the necessary regulatory authorities for the replacement of the floating store. A copy of the Plan is attached as Exhibit D. Any replacement of the floating store must be of a design and construction acceptable to HHIM. J&W agrees to accept 300 usable square feet in full substitution for office space located in the southwestern end of the store. The 300 usable square feet as shown on Exhibit “D” shall have a separate entrance and shall be an enclosed space with appropriate ventilation and windows and shall be provided with the same utility services as the remainder of the New Floating Store. Said utilities shall be separately metered and shall be the sole responsibility of J&W. J&W can seek approval if landlord’s application is denied subject

to the landlord's review and approval of the design and construction and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ii. Dockmaster's House: If and only if the floating store is not replaced due to denial of any permits required for its replacement, or for any reason at all, HHIM agrees to provide J&W with 300 usable square feet of office space in the Dockmaster's House. A copy of the plan for the Dockmaster's House is attached as Exhibit E and incorporated herein by reference.

iii. Hub of Activity. If and only if HHIM is unable to provide space to J&W in a new floating store or in the Dockmaster's House, then J&W will continue to occupy its existing space in the Marina Office. If HHIM decides at some time in the future to relocate the Marina Offices, the space provided to J&W for its office and business needs shall be relocated to a mutually agreeable location of a size, kind and quality at least comparable to the existing space, and such replacement space shall be located in the center of the commercial and retail activity at the Marina. RCSA, p. 2. (Defendants' Exhibit 2.)

Trent Shaw from OCRM testified that as of the date of trial, May 15, 2019, there were no active permits issued to BCM that would allow the placement of a floating office in any location other than the inside portion of the finger dock located closest to the marsh, where all parties agreed, a floating office would be on mud for at least half a day, every day. (Trial Tr.,p. 65, lines 4-17.) (R.p.____) Mr. Shaw also confirm that in order to place a floating office elsewhere at BCM, Mr. Freedman would have to file a request to amend the existing permit, which had not been done as of May 15, 2019. (Trial Tr.,p. 65, lines 11-17.) (R.p.____.)

Mr. Scurry testified that after the RCSA was entered, BCM moved J & W's office operations into a houseboat on the docks, which "sunk," causing J & W to lose all of its computers and office equipment. (Trial Tr.,p. 120, lines 4-8.) (R.p.____.) According to Mr. Scurry, that's when BCM moved J & W into a boat shed that had been constructed when Mr. Scurry and his father owned the marina, "to house a rich guy's boat." (Trial Tr.,p. 121, lines 12-13.) (R.p.____.) Mr. Scurry told Mr. Freedman at the time that the shed was an "illegal building" and asked him to move J & W into another office building as they had agreed to do in the RCSA. (Trial Tr.,p. 123, lines 8-25 and p. 124, lines 1-7.) (R.p.____.) J & W never agreed to accept the boat shed as an

office, and shortly thereafter, ceased paying its common area charges in order to try to force BCM to live up to the terms of the RCSA. (Trial Tr.,p. 124, lines 3-7.) (R.p.____.)

In July 2010, the Defendants were formally notified in two separate letters that the converted boat shed was an illegal building, not permitted by the town to operate a commercial business from. Those letters were ignored. (Trial Tr.,p. 389, lines 3-7 and p. 392, line 12 through p. 395, line 8.) (R.p.----.) (Plaintiff's Exhibits 14 and 15.)

Winters in the shed office for the J & W staff were "treacherous." (Trial Tr.,p. 128, lines 1-10.) (R.p.____.) There was no heat nor insulation. Mr. Scurry was surprised by a copperhead snake in his office once, along with marsh rats, roaches, and spiders. (Trial Tr.,p. 129, lines 4-25.) (R.p.____.) There was never another "floating office" nor any other office made ready and offered to J & W from 2008 until the time of trial. (Trial Tr.,p. 130, lines 5-9.) (R.p.____.)

Chris Yates, the Town of Hilton Head Island Building Official, confirmed under oath that the converted boat shed had never been properly permitted as a useable commercial office. (Trial Tr.,p. 255, lines 5-18.) (R.p.____.) Mr. Yates confirmed that the converted shed had "egress and life safety issues" Trial Tr.,p. 256,lines 19-23.) (R.p.____.) and that the boat shed was being "illegally occupied as a commercial building" as of May 3, 2019. (Trial Tr.,p. 261, lines 8-14.) (R.p.____.) (Plaintiff's Exhibit 12.) Mr. Yates testified that Mr. Freedman did not disagree with the Town's assessment of the illegality of the shed being used as an office. (Trial Tr.,p. 285, lines 13-21.) (R.p.____.) The Town ordered the Defendants to cease use of the boat shed as a commercial office within 60 days. (Trial Tr.,p. 261, lines 8-25.)(R.p.____.) See also Plaintiff's Exhibit 11, photos of the boat shed office.

Mr. Freedman's testimony concerning the relegation of J & W into the boat shed was conflicting and fuzzy. "My recollections are really hazy." (Trial Tr.,p. 314, lines 4-11.) (R.p.____.) Nate Jones, BCM's General Manager, recalled telling J & W in late 2009 that the boat shed "would be suitable for their office." (Trial tr.,p. 316, lines 11-19.) (R.p.____.) When asked if J & W accepted the converted shed as appropriate office space, Mr. Jones replied: "I don't remember a huge dumpster fire blowing up..." (Trial Tr.,p. 319, lines 5-10.) (R.p.____.) He apparently reasoned "I would say I knew of the space requirement that needed to be filled—fulfilled. And it was communicated to me that space would satisfy." (Trial Tr.,p. 320, lines 12-15.) (R.p.____.)

When asked for specific details of the placement of J & W into the boat shed office, Mr. Freedman admitted that the unpermitted boat shed was not an office space contemplated under the RCSA (Trial Tr.,p. 413, line 21 through p. 417, line 3.) (R.p.____.), admitted that the placement of J & W into the shed was supposed to be "temporary" (Trial Tr.,p. 416, lines 13-15.) (R.p.____.), admitted that as an experienced developer he knew the building had to be permitted to be legal (Trial Tr.,p. 391, lines 5-23.) (R.p.____.), and admitted that between the time he placed J & W in the boat shed and the trial (a period of over 10 years), that neither he nor BCM ever had an alternative floating office available for J & W (Trial Tr.,p. 413, line 21 through p. 414, line 2.) (R.p.____.). Despite those admissions, Mr. Freedman testified that in his opinion, the provision of the unpermitted, illegal boat shed for J & W's commercial use as an office for over 10 years, was "generous." (Trial Tr.,p. 497, lines 7-14.) (R.p.____.)

Nate Jones also testified that the placement of J & W into the unpermitted, illegal boat shed in or around 2009, was supposed to be a "temporary solution" to the office situation. (Trial Tr.,p. 607, lines 20-24.) (R.p.____.) And he admitted that the Defendants had never, as of trial, presented

any specific concepts for future placement of J & W's office. (Trial Tr.,p. 608, lines 15-20.) (R.p. ____.)

The testimony at trial from the parties and the Town of Hilton Head Island officials shows clearly and convincingly that Mr. Freedman, on behalf of BCM - being an experienced developer - knew that the relegating of J & W into the boat shed was wrongful, illegal, and not in conformance with the Lease Agreement and the RCSA. As to why Mr. Freedman and BCM refused to live up to the RCSA and put J & W into a properly permitted office building, Mr. Freedman indicated that BCM had probably saved at least \$75,000 over the years by not building the Dockmaster's Building that was called for in the RCSA and that had been properly permitted to BCM at the time of trial. (Trial Tr.,p. 506, lines 3-11.) (R.p. ____.)

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