RECEIVED

Jun 21 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Master-In-Equity

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity
Beaufort County

Appellate Case No. 2020-000862
Trial Court Case No. 2018-CP-07-1622

J & W Corporation of Greenwood,

Appellant,

v.

Broad Creek Marina of Hilton Head, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina Operations, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina Properties, LLC;
Broad Creek Marina Development, LLC,

Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Ellis R. Lesemann
Michelle A. Matthews
Lesemann & Associates LLC
418 King Street, Suite 301
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
(843) 724-5155
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

This matter was thoroughly litigated by the parties and carefully considered by the Master over the course of several years of proceedings. In resolving the issues presented, the Master entered a series of detailed orders, each of which was based upon the evidence in the record. Through this appeal, Tenant is seeking reconsideration of issues that the Master has carefully heard and considered, when there is evidence to support each of the Master's rulings. As a result, the appeal is without legitimate basis and should be refused.

One item that largely undermines Tenant's appeal is that Tenant does not appeal the Master's finding in favor of Landlord on Landlord's breach of contract counterclaim. Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case. *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). The unappealed ruling as to

Tenant's breach of contract is law of the case. The two-issue rule should preclude Tenant's argument regarding equitable setoff or recoupment, as should the absence of any specific amount of a wholesale setoff or recoupment ever being presented in evidence below.

It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling. *See Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 432 S.E.2d 482 (1993). Failure to challenge the ruling is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal. *Id.* In this regard, Tenant's breaches of contract have become law of the case. *See Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (stating where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case). Tenant does not appeal all of the grounds on which the Master's Order and Judgment was based, either as to the claim for monetary damages or the claim for specific performance. Specifically, Tenant does not appeal the Master's finding that Tenant breached the Lease. Because the Master made an alternate finding of liability that Tenant does not appeal, the two-issue rule bars this Court from considering Tenant's other arguments that are affected thereby. *See Anderson v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 322 S.C. 417, 472 S.E.2d 253 (1996).

Tenant does appeal the Master's finding that Tenant failed to prove Tenant's claim for breach of contract by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. pp. 27-29.) However, an action for breach of contract is an action at law, not equity. *Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 270-71, 705 S.E.2d 73, 76 (Ct. App. 2010). Under the applicable standard of review, the trial court's findings of fact should not be disturbed on appeal if there is "any evidence" to support the findings. As shown in the Order and Judgment, on its face, there is evidence supporting each of the Master's findings.

The Master granted judgment in favor of Landlord as to Landlord's second cause of action for specific performance relating to Tenant's obligations under the Lease, which has also not been appealed. In the Order and Judgment, Tenant was ordered to: (a) pay Additional Rent and Additional Charges; (b) name Landlord as an additional named insured on Tenant's insurance policies and to increase the amounts of insurance coverage in accordance with annual inflation; (c) refrain from further usage of areas that are not part of the Lease Property; and (d) separately meter Tenant's utilities. (R. p. 41.) However, the Master also granted Landlord's claim for specific performance as it relates to the floating office, as this was part of Landlord's counterclaim. (R. p. 105.) Although an action for specific performance is an action in equity, Tenant appeals the Master's interpretation of the Lease and the Settlement Agreement. *See Ingram v. Kasey's Assoc.*, 340 S.C. 98, 531 S.E.2d 287 (2000). An action to construe a contract is an action at law. *See Duncan v. Little*, 384 S.C. 420, 682 S.E.2d 788 (2009). As set forth below, the Master's factual findings are reasonably supported by the evidence and should not be disturbed upon appeal. Each of the Master's Orders that have been challenged should be affirmed.

I. THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE MASTER'S RULINGS ON THE CLAIMS FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue. *See Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 772 S.E.2d 163 (2015). An issue essentially one at law will not be transformed into one in equity simply because declaratory relief is sought. *Felts v. Richland Cnty.*, 303 S.C. 354, 400 S.E.2d 781 (1991). The underlying nature of Tenant's claim for declaratory judgment is essentially a claim for breach of contract, which is an action at law.

Tenant's arguments on appeal confirm that the underlying nature of the declaratory judgment claim is an action in law. First, Tenant asserts that the Master erred by failing to enter a declaratory judgment in favor of Tenant on the alleged basis that Landlord refused to provide Tenant with a properly permitted office space as required under the Lease and Settlement Agreement. Second, Tenant asks this Court to determine that Tenant is the prevailing party as to Tenant's claim for declaratory judgment to allow Tenant to recover attorneys' fees and costs under the Lease. (R. p. 1202.)

At trial, both Landlord and Tenant presented evidence and witness testimony relating to the issue of permitting of the office space. Landlord presented evidence at trial that a permit was obtained to place a floating office in the location that the parties had mutually agreed upon in the Settlement Agreement but, due to accretion of the marsh bank, the intended location of the floating office was no longer feasible. (R. p. 27.) Tenant presented evidence to show that the permit would expire on February 8, 2020. (R. p. 386, line 6; R. pp. 1257-1258.) As a result, the Interim Order was issued to provide immediate resolution and guidance relating to the future location of Tenant's office space. (R. p. 9.) The Master resolved both Tenant and Landlord's claims for declaratory judgment through the Interim Order.⁶ There is evidence, and pleadings and orders, indicating that Tenant had obstructed and refused to accept the floating office. As a result, it is appropriate that the issue was resolved in Landlord's favor. Tenant's refusal was improper.

Based on the evidence in the record, the Master found that Tenant had been provided an office space throughout the term. (R. p. 29.) The Lease states that Tenant "shall procure any and all permits required from local, state and federal governmental agencies, and/or otherwise, which

⁶ As indicated in the Order and Judgment, Tenant withdrew a portion of its second cause of action for declaratory judgment relating to dock space, leaving only the portion of the claim that related to commercial office space, which was addressed in the Interim Order. (R. p. 26.)

may be required to run its business.” (R. p. 1196; R. pp. 27-28.) Also, the Lease places the obligations for permitting and compliance efforts on Tenant, not Landlord. (R. p. 28.) In an action at law referred to a Master for final judgment, appellate courts will correct errors of law, but must affirm the Master’s factual findings if they are supported by “any evidence.”

This Court should deny Tenant’s request for a declaration that Tenant is the prevailing party as to Tenant’s claim for declaratory judgment. The Master, having assessed the evidence and considered the weight and credibility of the witnesses, already ruled on these issues in a manner that is supported by evidence. Following the issuance of the Interim Order, Respondents filed a Motion to Enforce the Interim Order due to Tenant’s refusal to accept the solution provided by Landlord. (R. pp. 130-135.) This is further evidence that Landlord “prevailed” on this issue. Tenant attempted to impose demands relating to the floating office that exceeded the provisions of the Lease and Settlement Agreement and the Master’s Interim Order thereby adding more delay, burden and expense. The Court should affirm the Master’s Order and Judgment.

II. THERE IS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE MASTER’S RULING ACCEPTING THE AQUA LODGE AS TENANT’S OFFICE SPACE.

Tenant improperly requests that this Court alter the rights and obligations as stated in the Lease and the Settlement Agreement, which is the same strategy that was unsuccessfully deployed in the proceedings below. Tenant seeks to require Landlord to go above and beyond the requirements set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Lease, neither of which require a guaranteed 20-year minimum service life for the floating office. Tenant also seeks to impose an ongoing requirement that Landlord provide Tenant with new floating offices as needed for the remainder of the 99-year Lease, even though Tenant is plainly responsible for all maintenance and repair. No such obligation is contemplated in the Lease or the Settlement Agreement.

Furthermore, the Court should decline Tenant’s request for review and predetermination relating to the Regulations of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Regulations 30-1 and 30-12. *See* S.C. DHEC/OCRM Regs. 30-1; S.C. DHEC/OCRM Regs. 30-12(M). Tenant failed to preserve this issue on appeal, which is not appropriate or ripe for review in any event. The issue of the applicability of Reg. 30-12(M) to Aqua Lodge Floating Office was not raised to the Master with sufficient specificity. Nonetheless, the record demonstrates that OCRM already approved and permitted the placement of a 28’ x 55’ floating office in the existing location. (R. p. 363, lines 5-6; R. p. 379, lines 12-17; R. p. 382, lines 14-19.) Tenant’s subjective suggestion that it will be “impossible” to gain permit approval of something that was previously approved does not present an issue for this Court to review. The Aqua Lodge itself is an operable vessel to be lodged in the Marina. This Court should not prejudge the permitting process.

a. The Proposed Floating Office Meets the Applicable Specifications Under the Lease and Settlement Agreement

The original commercial space under the Lease was a houseboat referred to as a “floating store.” When describing the Lease Property, the Lease refers to “the southwestern most 300 square feet of the floating store[.]” (R. p. 1205.) The provision of “commercial space” has been a part of the Lease since its inception, and the provision of a “floating office” (as opposed to an office on high land) has always been acceptable. Recognizing that a floating office was in keeping with the requirements of the Lease and the Settlement Agreement, as that was what the parties had agreed upon, the Master issued an Interim Order determining that a floating office would be provided as a replacement to the existing office location. As indicated in the Interim Order, Landlord was ordered to immediately, and at its sole expense, take all reasonable and necessary steps to permit and obtain a temporary portable rental office to be placed in a location that is mutually agreeable to the parties and to pay the expenses necessary to make utilities available in the temporary space.

(R. pp. 9-10.)

After receiving the Interim Order, Landlord applied countless hours and considerable resources to the provision of a temporary office and a floating office that complies with the relevant specifications. Landlord sought an order from the Master affirming that a customized 12' x 32' Aqua Lodge vessel ("Aqua Lodge") manufactured by Catamaran Cruisers satisfies all relevant requirements of the Lease and Settlement Agreement, as well as the Master's Interim Order. (R. pp. 130-135.) The Aqua Lodge is of sufficient size. It has a 5' x 11.5' deck, which is usable for the sale of tickets and interactions with customers, and a 25' x 11.5' cabin, which is usable as private offices. (R. p. 10.) The President of Catamaran Cruisers, Dirk Wiley, confirmed that the Aqua Lodge is a durable and suitable solution for the commercial office space requirements. (R. pp. 138-139.)

It is important to note that the Settlement Agreement states that "any replacement of the floating store must be of a design and construction acceptable to [Landlord]," not Tenant. (R. p. 1209.) Under the Lease and Settlement Agreement, there is **no** requirement that the floating office: (1) consist of a building affixed to a floating dock; (2) be constructed of steel instead of fiberglass; (3) have a pitched roof; or (4) have a 20-year guarantee or warranty. These were items that Tenant sought to impose as requirements, even though they are not in the Lease or Settlement Agreement. Under the Lease, the existing floating store was accepted on an "as-is" basis. Subsequently, the only specific requirements stated within the Settlement Agreement were that the floating store would need to include 300 usable square feet of space and "have a separate entrance and shall be an enclosed space with appropriate ventilation and windows and shall be provided with the same utility services as the remainder of the New Floating Store." (R. p. 1209.) The Aqua Lodge meets each of these specifications but has been rejected by Tenant, who attempted to impose

specifications that would create an unduly burdensome and unjustifiable expense upon Landlord.

Tenant argues that the Master erred in determining that the Aqua Lodge is sufficient. The Interim Order indicated that Landlord must provide a floating office “with at least a 20-year anticipated service life.” (R. p. 10.) This requirement does not mandate a 20-year “guarantee” or even a 20-year “warranty.” However, as confirmed by the President of Catamaran Cruisers, when properly maintained, the Aqua Lodge should remain in service for twenty (20) years or longer. (R. pp. 130-135.) Also, Landlord should not be required to go above and beyond the agreed-upon obligations set forth in the Lease and Settlement Agreement to impose an ongoing requirement that Landlord provide Tenant with a new floating office, as needed, for the remainder of the 99-year Lease. No minimum service life is stated or required in any document. The Master properly granted Respondents’ Motion to Implement and Enforce the Master’s Interim Order. (R. pp. 17-18.) No issue is presented warranting reversal of the Master’s rulings.

b. The Issue of the Applicability of Reg. 30-12(M) Has Not Been Preserved

As part of this appeal, Tenant is attempting to litigate about a permitting process that has not been completed. Specifically, Tenant contends that it is “impossible” for a floating office to be permitted, even though one has previously been permitted and Tenant admitted at trial that a floating office would be acceptable to Tenant, provided that it was in an acceptable location. (R. p. 444; R. p. 549.) The permitting process is one that is reserved to the legally authorized agency, which is the Office of Coastal Resource Management of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (DHEC/OCRM). *See, generally*, S.C. (DHEC/OCRM) Reg. 30-12 (Special Project Standards for Tidelands and Coastal Waters). On this basis, it is not possible nor prudent to engage in appellate prognostication of any outcome of a permitting process that is not complete. Certainly, it is not possible for the issue to be properly before this Court, when Tenant

did not present evidence of “impossibility” below. On the contrary, Tenant (under oath) indicated a willingness to accept the floating office. If the Master’s rulings ultimately turn out to involve a solution that it impossible to get permitted, this would be an issue for the parties to take back before the Master if and when that situation ever presented itself. For purposes of this appeal, however, the issue is unpreserved and unripe for review.

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